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SECURITIESAND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,
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V. Civil Action No. 12-119 (JEB)

LEN A. FAMILANT and PAUL V.
GREENE,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Though little remembered now, InPhonic was once the largest online retaildr of cel
phones and related services in the United Statethis civil-enforcement action, the Securities
and Exchang€ommission alleges thatsenior vice president of InPhonic, Defendant Len
Familant, and the president of an InPhonic supplier, Defendant Paeh&rrara scheme to
conceal InPhonic’s deteriorating financial staf&reene directetlis employees to issue
unearnednemos of credito InPhoni¢ which usedhe sham credittopad its financial reporfs
and thenacting through Familantepaid Greene’s compargirough astreamof hidden
disbursementthat rangedrom inflated contracprices to outlaydor fictitious repairs.

According to theSEC Familant and Greene’s scheme violated Sectiofis)Hnhd 130of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1938lpng withan array of agxiated SEC regulations. This Court,
with Familant’'s consenpreviously entered final judgment against him alo@eeene hasow
moved to dismiss the Complaiiatr failure to state a clairr, in the alternativeor pre-

discovery summary judgmenBecause the Court disagrees with Greene’s legal contentions,

will denyhis Motion.
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Background
Because Greene’s Motion is primarily a motion to dismiss, the Court drawstbe fa
from the Complaintassuming them to be true at this stage

A. Factual Background

InPhonic, Inc. sold wireless service plans, cell phonesaacekssoriesverthe Internet
SeeCompl., 1 11. Its stock was publicly traded on the NASDAQ stock market, and by 2005 its
annual revenue topped $300 millioBeeid.; InPhonic, Inc., Annual Report (Form 10-K) at 30
(June 1, 2007pvailable ahttp://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml.

Len Familant served dsPhonic’s Senior Vice President of Procurement and InPhonic’s
Senior Vice Presidemtf Supply Chain.SeeCompl., 1 9. He reported to InPhonic’'s CEO and
other senior executivesseeid. As his titles suggest, Familamersawpurchasing decisions
and maintained relationships with vendogeeid.

One such vendor wasmerica’s Premiex Corp., which was wholly owned and
controlled by Pesident Paul Greene. See 1 10, 12. APC repaired cell phones and
distributed cell phones and equipme8eeid., § 12. APC'’s largest customer was InPhonic.
Seeid.,  13. In that customer relationsigreenadealt withFamilant Seeid., T 14.

According to the ComplainEamilant and Greene carried ahér allegedscheme
betweerOctober 2005 and November 2007. In broad strokes, APC (through Greene) would
award credit to InPhonicased on amvented reasqgrandthen InPhonic (through Familant)
would graduallyrepay APCby sendingsmall paymentgor similarly bogus reas@ InPhonic
accountantsin the dark as to therrangementvould record the credits as redocts to

expenseshusinflating the company’gerformance Now filling in the details of this sketch



Familant wouldirst ask APC to give InPhonic a particular amount of cre8geid.,
19 15, 19, 21, 23. AAPC employegat Greene’s direction, would compsendng Familant a
memostatingthat APC owed InPhonithe requestedmount of credit.Seeid., 11 16, 19, 26.
The credit memo wouldive a fakereasorfor thecredt, such as defective components, repairs,
or billing errors Seeid., 11 16, 21, 28. For example, the first October 2005 credit memo
(backdated to September 20@&kclared thamPhonic had $400,52% icredit with APC in
connection with defective batteries, housings, LCDs, and char§eesd., 1 28.

Familant would then find wayer InPhonicto repaythecredit. For exampledPC
would send (and InPhonic would pay) invoices for repairs thahbee happenedSeeid.,
1923, 30, 33. Or InPhonic would buy goods aedvices from APC at markeag prices.See
id., 111115, 19, 25, 30, 32-33, 35. Or InPhonic would send APC functioning plaregacterize
them as beyond repair, and all&w C toresell the phones to other custome&eeid., T 25.

Realzing the goal of thimrrangementnPhonic accountants would record the APC
credits as reductions expensesSeeid., 11 22, 41.InPhonic’s financial statements filed with
the SEC reflected this falsecounting.Seeid., 1142-46. Credit from APC, however, did not in
fact reduce actual or expected cash outtayB1Phonicbecause each credvould have to be
repaid; everyl in credit from APGvasoffset by a new $1 in obligation to APC, @eerall
InPhonic was in the same positio8eeid., 1 41. In other words, while present expenses may
have appeared rosier to Wall Street, the bill would eventually come due.eRoné¢hbeing at
least,InPhonic accountants — indeed, everyone at InRHmsides Familartseem to have been
unaware that the credits were fabrications, offset by other obligations.

All told, APC issued 11 sudredit memogo InPhonicbetween October 2005 and

February 2007 for a total of $9.99 millioseeid., § 28. Those credits were recorded in the



third quarter of 2005 and each quarter of 2006, inflating financial performance in éhokeof
guarters Seeid. Because of the APC credits, InPhonic released twimée erroneous reports
or documents: six Forms XD; sx amended Forms 10-Q, two Forms 10-K, angended~orm
10-K, two Forms &, and six EBITDA(earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and
amortizationyeleases attached to Form&8 Seeid., 1143, 45-46.

The SEC estimates that td”C credit arrangemedlowed InPhonic to understate its
originally reported net losses as follows: in 2005 Q3, InPhmpiorteda net loss of $5.0 million
instead of $5.6 million; in 2006 Q1, $3.9 million instead of $4.4 million; in 2006 Q2, $5.3
million instead ¢ $6.3 million; in 2006 Q3, $4.8 million instead of $6.0 million; and in 2006 Q4,
$3.5 million instead of $7.8 millionSeeid., § 42. Summing those four 2006 quarters, the
originally reportednet lossfor 2006 ($17.5 million) wa$7 million smalletthanit should been
($24.5million) —meaning thahet lossesvould have been 40% higher than originally reported.
Seeid. Because of other pervasive accounting errors unrelated to the APG,dreditne 2007
InPhonicrestated it2006financial resultsincreasing its reported lossasgbstantially Seeid.,

1 44. The APC arrangementvas still hidden, sd continued to buoy InPhonic’s reportessults
Seeid. The SEGstill estimates thahe2006 net loss reportad the restatedesults($63.7
million) was $7 million smallethan it should have been ($70nflion) — meaning thaactual
net losses sbuld have been 11% highttran restatedSeeid. The APCcreditsalso overstated
InPhonic’s EBTDA figures With the APC creditsinPhonic congtently reacheds projected
EBITDA in Q3 2005 and each quarter of 20@eeid., 1 46. Without the credits, InPhonic
would have missed its EBITDA projection in each of those quargesid.

The allegations make clear thmith Familant and Greene knéwattheir arrangement

was illegal. An APC accountanwarned Greene thailling for phony services was “fraud.Id.,



1 24. Greene also told APC employees that the sham credits were the reasondaidisPh
positive results.Seeid., 1 29. An APC employee sent Familant and Greem&cking sheet that
showed, in October 2006, the total credits APC had issued and the total InPhonic had repaid in
inflated bills andiake invoices._Seigl., § 33. Greene told APC employees to vary the amount of
the overcharges in the fake invoices and to avoid round numbers so as to evade d&eetion.
id., 1 37. Familant told APC employees to send the invoices for fake work directiy totito
never put anything in writingSeeid., 1137-38.

As foreshadowed biys massive financial restatements, InPhonic was ailing by 2007.
November 2007t ceased operations and sought bankruptcy protection, bringiddteredit
arrangemento a close Seeid., 1 50. AP(everfully recouped the creditsSeeid., 1147-49.

B. Procedural Background

The SEC brought thisivil-enforcement Complaint January 2012gainst Familant and
Greeneseting out fivecauses of actionFamilantconsented to — and this Coarttered-a final
judgment that enjoined further violations, prohibikeimilantfrom acting as an officer or
director of any issuer atgisteredsecuritiesand imposed a $50,000 civil penal§eeFinal J.
as to DeflLen A. Familant, Jan. 26, 2012.

Greene, however, is fighting the charges. Henmagmoved to dismiss the Complaint
for failure to state a claimin the alternative, and befoldl discovery he has alsmovedfor
summary judgmentThis Court allowed the SEC to respond to the MatBismiss and the
Motion for Summary Judgmesgparatelygo thatit could obtain an expert to countéreene’s
expert report.SeeMinute Order, May 18, 2012. In the interim, the Court stayed discoBag.
Minute Order, July 10, 2012. Briefing on battatters having been completed, the issues are

now ripe for decision.



. Legal Standard

A. Motion to Dismiss

Under Federal Rule @ivil Procedure 12(b)(6), a court must dismiss a claim for relief
when the complaint “fail[s] to state a claim upon which relief can be grantedvaluating a
motion to dsmiss, the Court must “treat tkemplaint’s factual allegatiores trueand must
grantplaintiff the benefit of all inferences that can be derived from the facts alle frow

v. United Air Lines, Inc., 216 F.3d 1111, 1113 (D.C. Cir. 20@@aonand internal quotation

marksomitted);see als@shcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009.court need not accept as

true, however, “a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation,” nor an ceferesupported

by the facts set forth in the complaintrudeau v. FTC, 456 F.3d 178, 193 (D.C. Cir. 2006)

(quotingPapasan v. Allaird78 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)Although “detailed factual allegations”

are not necessary to withstand a Rule 12(b)(6) mation, Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S.

544, 555 (2007), “a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, [if] acceptadeasot
stae a claim to relief that is plausible on its facégbal, 556 U.Sat 678 (internal quotation
omitted). Though a plaintiff may survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion even if “recovesrys v
remote and unlikely,” the facts alleged in the complaint “must be enough to raiseta rigjief

above the speculative levelTwombly, 550 U.S. at 555-56 (quoting Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416

U.S. 232, 236 (1974)).

A motionto dismissunder Rule 12(b)(6nust rely solely on matters within the
pleadingsseeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(d), which includes statements adopted by reference as well as
copies of written instruments joined as exhibBgeFed. R. Civ. P. 10(c). Where the Court

must consider “matters outside the pleadings” to reach its conclusion, a tafismiss “must



be treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56.” Fed. R. Civ. Psg2(dlsorates v.

District of Columbia 324 F.3d 724, 725 (D.C. Cir. 2003).

B. Motion for Summary Judgment

Summary judgment may be granted if “the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute
as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of lawR. E&d.P.

56(a);see als®Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986); Holcomb v.

Powell 433 F.3d 889, 895 (D.C. C2006). A factis “material” if it is capable of affecting the

substantive outcome of the litigatioBeeLiberty Lobby, 477 U.S. at 248; Holcomb, 433 F.3d at

895. A dispute is “genuine” if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could retutitia ver
for the nonmoving partySeeScott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2004perty Lobby, 477

U.S. at 248; Holcomb, 433 F.3d at 895. “A party asserting that a fact cannot be or is genuinely

disputed must support the assertion” by “citing to partiqudaits of materials in the record” or
“showing that the materials cited do not establish the absence or preseneawha gispute,
or that an adverse party cannot produce admissible evidence to support the fact.” Red®R. C
56(c)(1).

When a motion for summary judgment is under consideration, “[tjhe evidence of the non-

movant[s] is to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawnirhfgker.”

Liberty Lobby, 477 U.S. at 255%ee alsMastro v. PEPCO, 447 F.3d 843, 850 (D.C. Cir. 2006);

Aka v. Wash. Hosp. Ctr., 156 F.3d 1284, 1288 (D.C. Cir. 1998)gnc). On a motion for

summary judgment, the Court must “eschew making credibility determinationsghingethe

evidence.” _Czekalski v. Petert75 F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007).

The nonmoving party’s opposition, however, must consist of more than mere

unsupported allegations or denials and must be supported by affidavits, declarattime, or



competent evidence, setting forth specific facts showing that there is agesaudor trial.

SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(e); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 324 (1986). The nonmovant is

required to provide evidence that would permit a reasonable jury to find in its taaringham
v. Navy, 813 F.2d 1236, 1242 (D.C. Cir. 198Wthe nonmovant’s evidence is “merely
colorable” or “not significantly probative,” summary judgment may be graritdxbrty Lobby;
477 U.S. at 249-50.
1.  Analysis
The SEC may bring a civénforcement actionnder Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act
“[wlhenever it shall appear to the Commission that any person is engaged or iRamgage
in acts or practices constituting a violation of any provision of this chaptehforiites or
regulations thereunder.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)®gmedies forwch violations include momary
penaltiesinjunctions, and other appropriate equitable relgfel5 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2), (3), (5).
The SEC may go after aiders and abettors, After the Supreme Court ruled @entral

Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Ietstate Bank of Denver, N.A611 U.S. 164 (1994)hat Section

10(b) does not create liability for those who aid and abet violatiba$rivate Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995 gave the SEC authority to prosetigtaiding and abettingf
secuities-law violations under Section 20(e) of the Exchange A#ePub. L. No. 104-67,

8 104, 109 Stat. 737, 757 (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 78t(e)). Under that audhgrity, “
person that knowingly aecklessly provides substantial assistancaimther person in violation

of a provision of this chapter, or of any rule or regulation issued under this chaptdoeshall
deemed to be in violation of such provision to the same extent as the person to whom such

assistance is provided.” 15 U.S.C. §(&R



Three principal elements are required to estallidimg-andabetting liability:“(1) that a
principal committed a primary violation; (2) that the aider and abettor providstbsdal
assistance to the primary violator; and (3) that the aidealbetior had the necessary ‘scienter’

i.e., that she rendered such assistance knowingly or recklegslgtiam v. SEC, 222 F.3d 994,

1000 (D.C. Cir. 2000). [D]Jraw[ing] guidance from the wellleveloped law of aiding and
abetting liability in criminal cses, the Second Circuit has set fortltambinedest for
substantial assistance asuenter:

[T]he Government — in addition to proving that the primary

violation occurred and that the defendant had knowledge of it . . . —
must also prove “that he in sensort associated himself with the
venture, that the defendant participated in it as in something that he
wished to bring about, and that he sought by his action to make it
succeed.”

SEC v. Apuzzo, 689 F.3d 204, 212 (2d Cir. 2012) (brackets omitted) (quoting United States v.

Peoni, 100 F.2d 401, 402 (2d Cir. 1938) (L. Hand, J}p D.C. Circuit applied the same test

beforeCentral Bank of Denver and the adoption of Section 2&egZoelsch v. Arthur

Andersen & Co., 824 F.2d 27, 35-36 (D.C. Cir. 1987), abrogated on other grounds by Morrison

v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd, 130 S. Ct. 2869 (2010).

In this case, the SEC sets out five coagainst Greendl) violations of Section 10(b)
and Rules 10I&(a) and (c); (1) aiding and altiety violations of Section 10(b) and Rules
10b-5(a) and (c); (lll) aiding and abetting violations of Section 13(a) and Rule€d0]123a-1,
13a-11, and 13a-13; (IV) aiding and abetting violations of Section 13(b)(2)(A); and (V)
violations of Rule 13b2-1SeeCompl, 151-75. The Court will first review Greene’s
arguments specific tGounts | and linextmove to those concerning Counts lll, IV, and V, and

then clog with Greene’s general summaugigment arguments that apply tofale.



A. Anti-Fraud Provisions: Counts | and Il

Count | alleges that Greene directly violagelction 10(b) and Rules 16ia) and (c),
while Count Il alleges thdte aided and abetted Familant’s and InPhonic’s violatiotts©f
statute and these Rule$he Court will begin by setting out the legal framework that governs
here, describing how Section 10(b) and Rule &@gnerally operate. A separate analysis of
each of the two counts follows.

1. Legal Framework
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act prohibits securities fraud:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by
the use of any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or
of the mails, or of any facility of any national securities exchange
... [tJo use or employ, in connection with the purehassale of
any security registered on a national securities exchange or any
security not so registered, or any securibased swap
agreemerjf] any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance
in contravention of such rules and regulations as therssion
may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or
for the protection of investors.

15 U.S.C. 8§ 78j. Thprimary rule that the SEC haprescribgd]” to implement Section 10(b) is

Rule 10b-5:

It shall be unlawful for any persodirectly or indirectly, by
the use of any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or
of the mails or of any facility of any national securities exchange,
(&) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,
(b) To make any untrue statementahaterial fact or to
omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the
statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading, or
(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business
which operatesronvould operate as a fraud or deceit upon any
person,
in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

10



Because Congress sets the outer bounds on the SEC’s rulemaking authority, “Rule 10b-5

encompasses only conduct alreadyhsed by 8§ 10(b).”_Stoneridge Inv. Partners v. Scientific-

Atlanta Inc., 552 U.S. 148, 157 (2008). fFa claim tosurvive, therefore, defendant’s alleged
conduct must both fall within the scope of Section 10(b)’s coverage and be prohibited by Rule

10b-5. SeeCentral Bank of Denver, 511 U.&.172 (“In our cases addressing 8§ 10(b) and Rule

10b-5, we have confronted two main issues. First, we have determined the scope of conduct
prohibited by § 10(b). Second, in cases where the defehdamtommiied a violation of
8 10(b), we have decided questions about the elements of tiedlate liability scheme
....") (citations omitted).

Section 10(b) limits the SEC to proscribing the use of a “manipulative or deceptive
device or contrivancé.“Manipulative; under the statutes ia“term of art that “refers
generally to practices, such as wash sales, matched orders, or riggedhaiceg, intended to

mislead investors by artificially affecting market activitysanta Fe Indusinc. v. Green430

U.S. 462, 476-77 (1977)I'he most common forms of édeptivedevice or contrivance,”
converselyareomissions by someone who has a duty to disdagenisstatementsBut the
SupremeCourt hagecently warned againbiniting the statutory ternfdeceptive” to “specific
oral or written statemef#]” because “[cdnduct itself can be deceptive.” Stoneridge, 552 bLS.

158 see als@rnst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 203 (1976he section was described

rightly asa ‘catchall’clause to enable the Commission to deal with new manipulative or cunning

devices.”)(someinternal quotation marks and brackets omitt&ijperintendent of Ins. &f.Y.

v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 11 n.7 (1971) (**We do not think it soundniisdia

complaint merely because the alleged scheme does not involve the type of frasidshatly

associated with the sale or purchase of securités believe that 80(b) and Rule 10b-5

11



prohibitall fraudulent schemes in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, wiesther t
artifices employed involve a garden type variety of fraud, or present a uniquef deception.
Novel or atypical methods should not provide immunity from the seesuitaws.”) (quoting

A.T. Brod & Co. v. Perlow, 375 F.2d 393, 397 (2d Cir. 196&m@phasis in originasome

internal quotation marks armtackets omitted)

To fall within Section 10(b), the deceptiomust be material. “[1g fulfill the materiality
requirementhere must be a substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the omitted fact would
have been viewed by the reasonable investor\dadnaignificantly altered the total mof

information made available.Basic Inc. v. Leinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231-32 (1988)ternal

guotation marks omitted)Whether a deceptive act is matefdépends on the facts and thus is
to be determined on a calg-case basis.’ld. at 250.

As to Rule 10b-5, the elements of suchause of actiodepend on who brings suin
SEC civiltenforcement suit requires the SEC to show that the defendamhade a material
misrepresentation or a material omission as to which he had a duty to speak, orasedlent
device; (2) with scienter; (3) iroanection with the purchase or sale of securiti&ECv.

Monarch Funding Corp., 192 F.3d 295, 308 (2d Cir. 199B)]dlike a plaintiff in a private

damages actigrihe SEC need not prove actharm? Graham 222 F.3dat 1001 n.15.
2. Motion to Dismiss Count |
To state a claim for violatin§ection 10(b) and Rules 10b-5(a) and (c), therefooent |
must satisfy both the statute and the regulatios.a fesult, a SEC enforcement action under
Rule 10b-5 could suffer from a variety of defects, including a failure to progktyeacienter
or materiality, a failure to allege a frauch‘tonnection with the purchase or sale of any

security” or a failure to meet the heightened pleading standards imposed by Federal Rule of

12



Civil Procedure 9(b). Greene makes only two objections here, however: that hid altegeas
not “manipulative or deceptive” for purposes of Section 10(b), and that it is not barred by
subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5.
a. Requiremets of Section10(b)
For purposes of Section 10(Igreene’s alleged axtvereconcededly not

“manipulative.” Se&anta Fe Indus430 U.S. at 4767 (“manipulative” is a term of art).

Greene argues that his alleged acts wereradstdeceptive,andthey nowappear misleading
only because of public misstatements by others (hamely, InPhonic).

While typically applied to misstatements and omissidms statutory term “deceptive”
captures all deceptive conduct. S#eneridge, 552 U.S. at 158. Armbte is much deceptive
conduct here, with Greene and Familant spinning out an elaborategdatto fool InPhonic’s
accountants andn turn, the public.Greenedirected employees to crednd sometimes
backdatg credit memodor InPhonic, listing false grounds for the crediteeCompl., 11 16, 21,
28. Hesent invoices to InPhonfor fictitious services Seeid., 11 23, 30, 33. Unlike in other
cases, no innocent business dealings cexjidiainthis conducaway No matter how
accountants recordedem, these transactions wouhislead Cf. SEC v. Kelly 817 F. Supp. 2d
340, 344 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (concluding that “[t]here is nothing inherently deceptive about
structuring a transaction withcaunterparty so that tfeounterparty purchaseslvetising”).

For what itis worth, moreovemany ofGreene’s alleged actse writtenmisstatements a
traditional category of deceptive condu&eeStoneridge, 552 U.S. at 158r('this case,
moreover, respondentsourse of conduct included both oral and written statems&unth, as the
backdated contracts agreed to by Charter and resporijleifitse acts alleged heraccordingly,

are “deceptive” for purposes of Section 10(b).

13



b. Requirements of Rule 10b-5
Now on toGreene’s gmary objection: thathe deceptiveourse of condudhat the
Complaint allegesvas neithera “device, scheme, artifice to defraud’'under Rule 10b-5(a) nor
an “act, practice, or cowrf business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon
any persohunder Rule 10I5(c).

Greendirst argues- repeatedly-thatCount | is foreclosed by Janus Capital Group v.

First Derivative Tradersl31 S. Ct. 2296 (2011)n that case, Janus Capital Management

managed the mutual funds of Janus Inwesit Fund, a separate legal entity. Beat 2299.
Claiming that they were misled by prospectuses issued by the Fund, invesha$und sued
Janus Capitdllanagement under Rule 10b-5(t9eeid. at 2300. Rule 10b-5(b) renders it
unlawful to “makeany untrue statement afmaterial factin connection with the purchase or
sale of a securitylnterpreting that languagthe Supreme Court held that “theker of a
statement is the personamtity with ultimate authority over tregatement, includits content
andwhether and how to communicaté itlanus, 131 S. Ct. at 2302. “Under this rule, JCM did
not‘make’ any of the statements in the Jaimwestment Fund prospectuses; Janus Investment
Fund did? Id. at 2304.Janus Capital Managemetitereforewas not liable under Rule
10b-5(b). While Janudorecloses a finding here that Greene violated Rule5[0p- he
likewisenever “made” an untrue statement to investorsitharRule 10b-%a) nor Rule
10b-Hc) requires Greene to “make” a statement. Becalseus’s holding relates only to Rule
10b-5(b),it has no direct application here.

Violations of subsections (a) and @k often calledscheme liability.” See, e.qg.

Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 159:80 re DVI, Inc.Sec. Litig, 639 F.3d 623, 643 n.29 (3d Cir.

2011). At least three circuit courts have held that “scheme liability” is viahlg if Rule

14



10b-5(b) cannofully cover the deceptive actdhat is, the “scheme” must includeceptions

beyond misrepresentations and omissiddsePub. Pension Fund Grp. v. KV Pharm. Co., 679

F.3d 972, 987 (8th Cir. 2012)We join the Second and Ninth Circuits in recognizing a scheme
liability claim must be based on conduct beyond misrepresentati@nsissions actionable

under Rule 10{(b)."); WPP Lux Gamma Three Sarl v. Spot Runner, Inc., 655 F.3d 1039, 1057

(9th Cir. 2011) (“A defendant may only be liable as part of a fraudulent scheme based upon
misrepresentatianand omissions under Rules 18a} or (c) when the scheme also

encompasses conduct beyond those misrepresentations or omisdiemdell v. Merrill Lynch

& Co., 396 F.3d 161, 177 (2d Cir. 200BWe hold that where the sole basis for such claims is
alleged misrepresentations or omissioplaintiffs have not made out a market manipulation
claim under Rule 10B{a) and (c) . . 7). In this case, as just discussed, the scheme included
such deceptions and cannot be fully covered by Rule{idb-

Greere nevertheless argues that the Southern District of New York’s decidi@hyn
bars any scheme liability her&ee817 F. Supp. 2d 340. In the purported schenkeelly, AOL
executives structured transactions to inflate the advertising revenue thdtwaoeported See
id. at 343-44.Kelly heldthat“where thgrimary purpose and effect of a purported scheme is to
make a public misrepresentation or omission, courts twaeely rejected the SEC’s attempt to
bypasshe elements necessary to imposesstatementliability under subsectio(b) by labeling
the alleged misconduct a ‘scheme’ rather than a ‘misstatemeai .t 343. Reasoning that it
was “AOL’s allegedmproper reognition of advertising revenue from such transactiois{j is
deceptiveand not the act of engaging in sucmsactions itself,Kelly dismissed the SEC’s

claims under subsections (a) and (@@cause the SEC’s schetability claim is premised on a

misrepresentatioand neither defendant ‘mademisstatement alanusequires.” Id. at 344.In

15



other words, becausmly AOL ultimately “made” the false statement, the executives who
plottedto unleashthe false statement could not violate Rule 10b-5.

This Court is, of course, not bound Kglly’s holding and for three reasonslisagrees
with its reasoning and it§rimary purpose and effect” tesFirst, and most importantlihis
Court cannot square the broad, sweeping language of subsections (a) areh(gloydny
device, scheme, artifice to defraud” andéngage irany act, practice, arourse of business
which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceitaippperson> with the narrow
window for “scheme liability” left open bielly. A “scheme’is * a plan or program of
samething to be done; an enterprise; a project; as, a busiclessieor acrafty, unethical
project:” Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 696 n.13 (1980) (quotineBBfER S INTERNATIONAL
DICTIONARY (2d ed. 1934)) (emphasis and brackets omitt&étle scheme, inther words, is the
plan or design, not the ultimate result. Althowlmentsf the private cause of action under
Rule 10b5 are judicially createdhe Supreme Court has cautioned twirts musapplythe
normal rules of statutory construction when interpreting Rule 19&bguage:

The concurrence urges us to cast aside our inhibitions and join

in the judicial lawmaking, becausenis entire area of law is

replete with judgemade rules. It is doubtless true that, because

the impliedprivate causef action under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 is

a thing of our own creation, we have also defined its contdus.
when it comes to the scope of the conduct prohibiteld g

10b-5 and § 10(b), the text of the statute controls our deci#ios.
only with respect to thadditional elements of the 10b-5 private
liability scheme that we have haalinfer how the 1934 Congress

would have addressed the issues had the 10b-5 action been
included as an express provision in the 1934 Act.

Morrison, 130 S. Ctat 2881 n.5 (citations, some internal quotation maaksl bracketemitted).

And the text of Rule 10b-5 gives no hint of ttebinedinterpretation proposed lgelly.
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Secondihe Supreme Court has interpreted a statute nigi@yical toRule 10b-5n a
waythat is inconsistent with the interpretatioffiered by Kelly In drafting Rule 10b-5, the SEC
imported language from Section(ayof the Securities Aabf 1933:

It shall be unlawful for any person in the sale of aegurities
by the use of any meansiastruments of transportatia
communicationn interstatecommerce or by the use oktimails,
directly or indirectly—

(1) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,
or

(2) to obtain money or property by meansnoy untrue
statement of anaterial fact oeany omission to state a material
fact necessamy order to make the statements madéehe

light of the circumstances under which thegre made, not

misleading or

(3) to engage in any transaction, practicesaurse of
business which operates or would opeest@ fraud or deceit
upon the purchaser.

Pub. L. No. 73-22, § 17(a), 48 Stat. 74, 84-85 (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. 8§ Thg(a)).
Supreme Court has recognized that those subsections h@sgansive” reach United States

v. Naftalin 441 U.S. 768, 773 (197%ee alsdustafson v. Alloyd Co., 513 U.S. 561, 577-78

(1995);Natftalin, 441 U.S. at 777-78 £ithough it is true that the 1933 Act was primarily

concerned with the regulat of new offerings, respondesitargument fails because the

antifraud prohibition of 87(a) was meant as a major departure from that limitatibriike

much of the rest of the@, it was intended to cover any fraudulent scheme in an offer or sale of
securities, whether in the course of an initial distribution or in the course of ordiaaket

trading”). The Supreme Court, moreovlgs warned against using auggment of one
subsection of Section 17(a) to narrow another: “Each succeeding prohibition is memetrto c
additional kinds of illegalities- not to narrow the reach of the prior sectiomblere is, therefore,

no warrant for narrowing alternative provisions which the legislature has adoptetthevi

purpose of affording added safegudrdsaftalin, 441 U.Sat 774 ¢itation and internal
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guotation marks omittgdsee als@\aron 446 U.S. at 697 (similarly “emphasiz[inifle

distinctions among the three subparagraphslaf(g)”). Yet Kelly cast subsection (lm Rule
10b5’s lead roleand thertrippledsubsections (a) and (c) to ensure that they would never
overshadowhe star.
Third, and finally, the canons etatutory interpretationormally neededb justify
limiting the scope of one subsection based on anotinersuplusagecanonandthe
generalspecific canon — do not apphere. “It is a cardinal principle of statutory construction
that a statute ought, upon the whole, to be so construed that, if it can be prevented, no clause,

sentence, or word shall be superfluous, void, or insignificant.” TRW Inc. v. Andrews, 534 U.S

19, 31 (2001j)internal quotation marks omittedpsubsections may (and inevitably do) overlap,
butthe surplusage canon is invoked only when the intersection of subsections becomes so great
that one subsection renders anotheaningless In Rule 10b-5a set of facts mayvolve both
a misstatemer(br omission) that violates subsection (b) and a scheme that violates subsections
(a) and (c) As long as sommiisstatementfr omissions) covered by subsection (b) remain
outside the grasp of scheme liability under subsections (a) and (c), hovameseme clearly
do — there is no surplusage in the language of the regulation.

Next, the general/specific canbnolds thaif “a general authrzation and a more limited,
specific authorization exist sid®/-side” then ‘the specific governs the generaRadLAX

Gateway Hotel, LLC v. Amalgamated Barid2 S.Ct. 2065, 2071 (2014¢itation omitted)

Here, howevera “scheme” is not more general than a “misstatement” or “omission”; they are
simply different types of conduct. In any event, neither canon could applpémaase Rule

10b-5 has no apparent ambiguiyeeConn. Nat'l Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 253-54

(1992) ([C]anons of construction are no more than rules of thumb that help courts determine the
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meaning of legislation, and in interpreting a statute a court should alwaygsstito thne,
cardinal canon before all otherg/e have stated time and again that courts must presume that a
legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it say¥tieeréhe
words of a statute are unambiguous, then fitsiscanon is also the last: judicial inquiry is
complete.) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted)

In a final protest Greenepointsto_Stoneridgewhere the Suprem@ourt dismissed a
claim with allegations thachothose hereSee552 U.S. 148.In that caseScientificAtlanta
sold digital cable converters to Charter, a cable oper&eeid. at 154. ScientificAtlanta and
Charter allegedlagreed that Charter would overpay $20 for each converter and Scientific-
Atlanta would return the overpayment by buying advertising from Ch&egid. Because
Charter could capitalize the converters but record the advertising paymesnsmase, the
arrangement improved Charter’s financial statements.idSée hide their arrangement,
Charter and Scientift&tlanta fabricated documents and backdated contr&seid. at 154-55.

Stoneridgewvas a private actigrhowever, brought by investors who lost money on
Charter stoclandsued ScientificAtlanta—not an SEC enforcement actiomhe Court, notably,
ruled that the investors failed to prose elementinique to the private actionreliance. Seeid.
at 161 (“[W]e conclude respondents’ deceptive acts, which were not disclosed to thagnvest
public, are too remote to satisfy the requirentémeliance. It wasCharter, not respondents, that
misledits auditor and filed frauduléfinancial statements; nothimgspondents did made it
necessary or inevitable for Charter to record the transactions as”it dichat ruling, of course,
has no effect on the SEC’s enforcement action here.

Stoneridgein fact, seems to buttress the SEC’s cause in this GaseCourtsuggested

that the conduct in Stoneridge (and, thus, the similar conductvaasédeceptive” within the
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meaning of SectionQ(b). Seeid. at 158, 161. And althoughworriedabouttransformng Rule
10b-5 into gprivate federal cause of action against corporate malfeagardépurt recognized
that the SEQould reach such conduct:

Petitioner invokes the private cause of action under 8 10(b)
and seek to apply it bgond the securities marketghe realm of
financing business — to purchase and supply contrabts realm
of ordinary business operationshe latterealm is governed, for
the most part, by state lavit is true that if businessperations are
used, as alleged here, to affect securities markets, the SEC
enforcement power may reach the culpable actorsWerethe
implied cause of action to be extended to the practiessribed
here, however, there would be a risk that therfaigpower would
be used to invite litigation beyond the immedispdere of
securities litigation and in areas alreaphverned by functioning
and effective stattaw guaranteesOur precedents counsel against
this extension.

Id. at 161 (emphasis added).

Subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5, in sum, use broad language, and the text of the
Ruleand the Supreme Court’s precedents affejustification for limiting the natural reach of
that language. That is not to say that the SEC can apply or expand R&levitAbut limits;
indeed, Section 10(b) sets an outer ba@madn how far Rule 10b-5 can go. To violate Rule
10b-5, he violator must employ arfanipulative or deceptive devioe contrivance.” Rule
10b-5, similarly, canndby itself create secondary liability for aiding and abetting; all direct
enforcement actions must be for primary violations of Section 10(b). (As set forth on pp. 8-9,
supra, if the SEC wishes to prosecute aiding and abetting, it must do so under Sectipas0(e)
does here.) For private actions under Rule 10b-5, moreover, plaintiffs must prove tio@addit
elements ofeliance, economic loss, and loss causation. And Stoneridiges reliance a tall
hurdle in most cases of scheme liability.

The Complaint heralleges a “scheme . to defraud” that falls within Section 10(b) and

Rule 10b5(a). As he scheme goes beyond mere misstatements and omigssatisfies the
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limits on scheme liability imposed by some courts of appeals. Count | thus suhavdstion
to Dismiss.
3. Motion to Dismiss Count |1

Greene also moves to dism{Sseunt Il, whichallegesunder Section 20(¢hat he aided
and abetted Familant’s and InPhonic’s violations of Section 10(b) and Ruléga)mnad (c).
Greene’s challenge ©Gountll, however, hinges on his challenge to Coufdd the same
reasons that Greene claims thatnevehimself committed a primary violationi.e., there is no
scheme liability- Greene claims that Familant never commitied either Thus,he argues
there was no violation faGreendo aid and abet. The Court has already considered Greene’s
argument on this point and rejected@ount lltherefore survivethe Motion to Dismisas well.

4. Motion for Summary Judgment on Counts| and 11

Greene nexinoves for summary judgment on Counts | and@ldiming thathis alleged
scheme was ndmaterial for purposes of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5scheme is material
if its disclosure “would have been viewed by the reasonable investoviag Bagnificartly
altered the total mif information made available.Basic 485 U.Sat 231-32(internal
guotation marks omitted). So, to prevail on summary judgment, Greene must show beyond
genuine disputéhata reasonable investor would r@ve viewed disclosure of the scheme as
significantly alteringhe total mix of information available.

Greene points out that, throughout 2006, InPhonic made pervasive accountinthatrors
significantlyaffectedits publicly filed financial reportsFor example, InPhonic originally
reported a annual net loss of $17.5 million, netvisedthat net loss t$63.7 million. See
Compl., 11 42, 44. With such huge err@seene says, th&PC creditschemavasa drop in the

bucket — not something a reasonable investor could hawediassignificant. Greere points
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out, moreover, thahe $7 milliondifferenceattributed tohis schemeavould inflaterestated net
lossedhy only 11%. He cites a smattering of cases from the last quarter century that have found
changes between 0.3% and 2.6% in varloesitems to be immaterialSeeSumm. JReply at
17.

At the outset, the Court can find no reason to look at the restated numbers instead of the
original ones.Basicdirects focus to the “total mix of informationade available> which
would seem to be the information available at the tinee the original filings), not the
correctednformation (.e., the restated filingsgvailable onlyfor hindsight viewing.In any
event, even accounting for InPhonipenchant for accounting mistakéise Court cannot say
that an 11%isein annualnet losses is immaterial as a matter of |ake casethatGreene
cites presenta dog that doesn’t barkhe change here more tharfour times larger than the
changeat issuein his best precedenihe scheme’supposedmmateriality therefore does not
entitle Greengo summary judgment on these two counts.

B. Reporting Provisions and Books and Records Provisions: Counts Ill, IV, and V

Counts lll, IV, and V involveeportingandrecordkeepingequirements under Section 13
of the Exchange ActThe first twoare foraiding and abetting, whildae thirdis for adirect
violation.

1. Motion to Dismiss Counts Il and 1V

Count lll alleges that Greene aided and abel@honc’s violations ofa fistful of
reporting provisions — Section 13(a) and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, and 13a-13. Section 13(a)
requires every “issuer” of registered securities toviildn the SEC any annual reports, quarterly
reports, or information and documents that the SEC requires. 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a).

Implementing that requirement, Rel&3a-1 and 13a-1®@mmandssues of registered securities
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to file annual (Form 10k) and quarterly (Form 1@) reports. Seel7 C.F.R. 88 240.13a-1,
240.13a-13. Rule 13a-MHirectsissuers to file current (Formi8) reports Seel7 C.F.R.
8 240.13a-11All of thosereporting requirementsate satisfied only by the filing of complete,

accurate, and timely reportsSEC v. Savoy Indus., Inc., 587 F.2d 1149, 1165 (D.C. Cir. 1978)

(citation omitted) Rule 12b-2@&dds a relatedbligation “In addition to the information
expresslyrequired to be included in a statement or report, there shall be added such further
material informationif any, as may be necessarymake the required statements, inligbt of
the circumstances under whitttey are madg not misleading. 17 C.F.R. § 240.12b-20.

Count IV, in turn,alleges that Greene aided and abetted violations of Section
13(b)(2)(A) Thatrecordkeeping provisiorequires every “issuer” of registered securities to
“make and kgebooks, records, and accounthich, in reasonable detail, accuratahd fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositiofishe asets of the issuer.” 15 U.S.C78m(b)(2)(A).

Forthese two counts to survive, InPhonic (the issuer) mustd@wenitted primary
violations of each statuter regulationand Greene must have substantially assisted edabbss
violationswhile acting withscienter (i.e., knowledgeof the primary violatiorand knowledge
thathis conduct would@ssistthe primary violation, or recklessss aso those facts) Seel5
U.S.C. 8§78t(e);Graham 222 F.3cat 1000.

In his Motion, Greene argues that the Complaint falls short on substantialressesta
scienter. Although he never questions InPhonic’s alleged primary violatibasgnalysisnust
still begin with that unchallenged element. For each statute and regulation, InPHteges a
primary violatiors are multiple false statemergbout its financeg.This is a shift fronCounts |
and Il, where the primary violation was the fraud, not the public and interisatatement}

The SEC focuses on InPhonic’s repdesd recordsdf net loss and EBITDAThe statements
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are false becaudePhonicrecordedhe APC credits as reductions of expenses, even though
InPhonichad torepay thge credits

The SEC's allegations of substantial assistance appear sufficient. Acctardine
Complaint,Greenecreated (or ordered the creation of) the credit memos thattwintants
wrongly booked. He took various steps, moreoteeensure that the creartema would not
raise suspicions with accountants, including listing false justificationbéacredit award. And
he rigged the repayment of the credits in a way that prevented InPhonic’s auditors fr
discovering thebligations offsetting the credit$sreene wagthereforemore tharamarginal
player. Contrary to his protests, he need not help create InPhiomacisial statements in order
to “substantially assist” itgiolations.

More clearly, he SEC’s allegations atienter are sufficient. According to the
Complaint, “Greea at times showed [an] APC Employee the portion of InPhonic’s financial
statementsalating to cost of goods sold and explained that the APC credits helped improve
InPhonic’s performance.” Compl., 1 29. That allegation shows that Greene both knew of the
primary violatiors and knew hevas assistingheir commission.

These allegations shahat Greenéin some sort associat@éimself with te venture,
that[he] participatedn it as in something that he wished to bring about, and that he dpught
his action to make it succeed.” Apuzzo, 689 F.3d at 212 (citatiobractlets omitted) Counts
[Il and 1V thuswill not be dismissed

2. Motion to Dismiss Count V

In Count V, the SEC alleges that Greene directly viold&Redke 13b2-1 “No person shall

directly or indirectly falsify or cause to be falsifiedny book, record or account subjext

section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Securities Exchags.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1The referenced
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Section 13(b)(2)(A), discussed aboueyersthe “books, records, and accounts’ewéry
“issuer” of registered securities

Greene protests thSount only briefly, claiming that he cannot violate Rule 13b2-1
because he did not control, supervise, or even participate in making InPhonic’s.r@é¢erds
Rule’s text, howeveis not limited to employees in direct contagth InPhonics records-it
applies teevery“person.” _Sed’romotion of the Reliability of Financial Informatiamd
Prevention of the Concealment of Questionabldegal Corporate Payments and Practices
Exchange Act Release No. 15,570, 16 SEC Docket 1143, 1151 (Feb. 2Qp(“T9e effect of
falsifications of books, records or accounts, in making reports required under Section 13
misleading or incomplete, is not necessarily contingent on the identity of dingawer or on
whether he acts with the knowledge or acquiescence of managdvm@eiver, while normally
only officers and employees of the issuer are in a position to falsify cogperatrds, it is not
feasible to identify in the Ruld3b2-1]all categories of persons who might violate it.
Consequently, the Commission believes that the rule should apply to any person who, in fact,
does cause corporate books and records to be falgifigdthough Section 13(b)(2)(A) imposes
requirement®nly onissiers,the SEC claimed power from other statutepromulgating Rule
13b2-1, geid. at 1149, and Greene raises no questions dbeRule’s validity. Given
Greene’urported hand in the credit memos and fabricated invoices that led InPhonic to file
false records, the SEC has sufficiently alleged @reene indirectly caused InPhonic’s books
and records to be falsified. Like the other counts, Count V may thus proceed.

C. Summary Judgment on All Counts

In a finalbid to defeat the entire case, Greene argues that he is etttisi@chmary

judgment on all countsecausénPhonic recorded the credits correctly.
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Greene’rimaryargumenbn this point is somewhat involvednPhonic’s financial
statements would have been corré&RC had given InPhonithe creditsunconditionally.
What allegedly makes the credits conditiorand thusllegedly makes the financial statements
erroneous 4s Familant and Greene’s agreement that APC would recoup the credited amount.
According to Greene, however, the Generally Accepted Accounting Prinaipléd require
deferred recognition of the creddasly if the recoupment agreement was binding, and he
contends that the agreement here was AstGreene points outhe APC credit agreement was
ord, vague, and omitted key termEach of these traits, he argues, made the agreement
unenforceable. Closing the loop, he thogues that InPhonic recorded aegdorted exactly
what it should have.

The SECdisagrees, however, and submitseapert reporthatdisputesGreene’s
analysis of GAAP.The SEC’s experays that GAAP prohibited InPhorfrom recording the
credits ast did because the credits themselves were illegitim@eeSumm. J. Opp., app. (Decl.
of Greg J. Regan), 11 23-29. He asserts that the credits did not actually enhance’mPhoni
financial positionand thus did not reduce expensediowing these credgto be recorded as
reductions to expenses without noting InPhonic’s offsetting obligation, hevaaylsl, elevate
form over substance, in violation of GAABeeid. At this stage, the Counmiust “eschew
making credibility determinations or weighing #s@dence.”_Czekalskid75 F.3cat 363. The
SEC'’s expert entrenches a genuine dispute about the propriety of InPhonic’s acdouniieg
credits

Alternatively,Greene claims that InPhonic made an independent error in accounting for
the creditshe says that the credits were consistemblgked in the wrong quarters. Even if true,

however, Greeneffers noexplanatiorfor why one accounting error woutthncelout another.
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All counts therefore survive the Motion for Summary Judgment.
V. Conclusion

For the aforerantioned reasons, the Court vdényDefendant Greersg Motion to
Dismissthe Complaint, or, in the Alternative, for Summary Judgm@nseparate Order

consistent with this Opinion will be issued this day.

/s/ James E. Boasberg
JAMES E. BOASBERG
United States District Judge

Date: Decemberd, 2012
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